#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

**COMES NOW** Petitioner, Stephen E. Whitted, and pursuant to RAP 13.4, and hereby files this his "Petition for Discretionary Review."

#### THE DECISION

On April 22, 2019, Division I of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion in Case No. 77967-2-1. Petitioner requests review of Section II of that unpublished opinion. The decision allowed a set-off of a final judgment obtained in one civil action against a non-final judgment then pending on appeal from a separate civil action, when setoff had never been pled in the second civil action. The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court of Washington. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is contained in the Appendix to this Petition.

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I.

The Supreme Court of Washington and the Court of Appeals of Washington have issued opinions holding that a judgment that is final and not subject to appeal may not be setoff against a judgment that at the same time is not final, but on appeal. Was it error for the Superior Court of King County to set off a final judgment made in favor of Petitioner, Stephen Whitted, against an award made in favor of Respondent, Lori Jordan, from a separate civil action that was not then final but on appeal, when Jordan never pled setoff.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **FACTS**

The parties divorced on November 13, 2007 by order of the Superior Court of Fulton County, Georgia. The Georgia court entered a final judgment of divorce, awarding Plaintiff "one half (1/2) of [Ms. Jordan's] interest in and to all of the Pension Plan, 401K and retirement accounts of [hers] in the approximate sum of \$110,000.00." (RP 8, 34) After entry of this order, Ms. Jordan filed "a bankruptcy in an unsuccessful attempt to extinguish this debt" and Mr. Whitted also filed an appeal. Ms. Jordan then withdrew approximately \$38,000 from the money left in the retirement accounts. (RP 20)

Mrs. Jordan refused to transfer the sum awarded Appellant, and on January 14, 2011 the Superior Court of Fulton County, Georgia entered a second order to enforce the \$55,000 judgment; in pertinent part the order read as follows:

[T]he Court hereby finds that [Ms. Jordan] owes [Mr. Whitted], pursuant to the November 13, 2007 Final Judgment and Decree of Divorce, \$55,000.00, minus taxes and penalties for removing said moneys, and plus any interest required by statute.

As to specifics, the court ordered:

Within 20 days following the execution of this Order, plaintiff is to contact the plan administrator and provide to [Ms. Jordan] a detailed summary of what is required of her to remove the funds in question, a bank account to which it may be transferred and, if necessary, a qualified domestic relations order ("QDRO"). If a QDRO is necessary, [Mr. Whitted] shall have one prepared at his own expense. [Ms. Jordan] is to cooperate in signing documents and doing whatever else is necessary for these funds to be transferred to plaintiff. Within 10 days of receiving the information [Ms. Jordan] shall effect the transfer of any and all funds remaining in the account. She shall thereafter pay to plaintiff \$1,000 per month until the entire indebtedness has been paid.

Despite Appellant complying with the court's directive, Ms. Jordan still did not cooperate with Appellant's efforts to establish a QDRO so that the retirement assets could be **transferred without the imposition of**taxes, fees or penalties. (RP 19, 21)

#### PROCEDURAL POSTURE

Pursuant to Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act (UEFJA), Chapter 6.36 RCW, Plaintiff properly registered the 2007 judgment from the Georgia court in the Superior Court of Washington for King County on July 29, 2017. (CP 1,4,8, 9, 10) Specifically, a "Declaration re: Foreign Judgment" was filed with the Superior Court Clerk of Washington, County of King on July 29, 2016, reflecting a principal balance of \$55,000, accrued interest to date of \$85,000 computed at 10.9 percent, costs of \$240.00, and other recovery amount of \$79.00. (The interest rate of 10.9 % was conspicuously emphasized in bold letters on the face "Declaration re: Foreign Judgment.) (CP 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 10) As required by Washington law, the "Declaration re: Foreign Judgment" and all other pertinent papers were then mailed to the respondent, Lori Jones Jordan, at her current address via certified mail, as well as to her thencounsel of record, Stacey L. Smythe, Esq. via certified mail at her official mailing address. (CP 8) Neither did Mrs. Jordan, nor her counsel ever

file any form of objection to the "Declaration re: Foreign Judgment," as the record and docket in this matter make manifestly clear. (*See generally*, Clerk's Papers) (RP 56, 57). Thereafter, in accordance with law, a proper "Writ of Garnishment for Continuing Lien on Earnings" was served upon Mrs. Jordan's employer and her wages were then legally garnished. (RP 8).

Approximately six months after the proper registration of the Georgia judgment in Washington, and the garnishment of the obligor's wages had begun, on or about January 23, 2017, Mrs. Jordan, through her counsel, filed a "Motion for an Order Staying Garnishment Pending Briefing and Show Cause to Quash and Recall Writs, Set Aside Judgment." (CP 41)

On February 8, 2017, the Superior Court of King County conducted a hearing on Respondent's untimely motion. (RP 1-27) Pursuant to that hearing, the Superior Court issued an Order denying Mrs. Jordan's request to vacate the foreign judgment, commented on the record that the foreign judgment had been properly registered in the State of Washington and that its validity was not subject to challenge in the future. (RP 24) This Court then required briefing from the parties as to the

correct amount of the judgment to be imposed against Mrs. Jordan as obligor, *inter alia*. (RP 22).

On November 2, 2017, the Superior Court of King County conducted a second hearing in the matter. (RP 28 – 68). After hearing argument from the parties and counsel, the court awarded Appellant \$55,000, plus simple interest at 10.9 % on the entirety of the award, or \$5,995.00 per year for ten years. (RP 58, 59). The court determined that the total award owed Appellant was \$114, 950. (RP 65) The court ruled that the interest rate of 7% was inapplicable to the marital asset award made in Appellant's favor. (RP 58)

The court then offset Appellant's final award of \$114, 950.00 against an award of \$164, 869.00 Mrs. Jordan had received previously from an entirely separate civil proceeding she initiated in the superior court against Appellant in Case No. 16-3-03678-7 SEA). (RP 59, 62) However, at the time the Superior Court offset Appellant's award against the award made to Mrs. Jordan, the issue of the legality of the award made to Mrs. Jordan in the separate proceeding was then pending before the Washington Court of Appeals, as Case No. 76168-4-1. As such, that judgment was not final. Appellant raised an issue as to the propriety of offsetting his final award against a non-final award that was then pending

on appeal. (RP 62) The superior court acknowledge the parties' right to challenge its November 2, 2017 ruling on appeal. (RP 63).

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

# THE JUDGMENT MADE IN FAVOR OF PETITIONER SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SET OFF BY THE TRIAL COURT, AS A MATTER OF LAW

On November 2, 2017, the Superior Court of King County setoff the final judgment made in this matter in Appellant's favor against a judgment in Mrs. Jordan's favor from a separate proceeding made in Case No. 16-3-03678-7-SEA. However, the judgment made in favor of Mrs. Jordan by the Superior Court of King County in Case No. 16-3 – 03678-7-SEA was not final on November 2, 2017 when the Superior Court made the setoff determination, or on January 11, 2018 when the judgment reflecting the setoff was entered on the record. On January 11, 2018, the determination of whether Mrs. Jordan was entitled to any monies in Case No. 16-3 – 03678-7-SEA for a purported violation of the UIFSA was still pending before Division 1 of the Washington Court of Appeals as matter No. 76168-4-1. (RP 38) The parties never agreed to a setoff in Case No. 16-3-03678-7-SEA, the underlying action Mrs. Jordan filed in the Superior Court of King County, Washington.

# 1. Only final judgments not subject to appeal may used in a setoff calculation.

The Supreme Court of Washington has determined that judgments that are final cannot be setoff against a separate judgment that is not then final; the pendency of an appeal prevents finality and set-off, as a matter of law. *Reichlin v. First National Bank*, 184 Wash. 304, 314 (1935).

In *Reichlin*, a debtor gave a quit claim deed in property and a chattel mortgage on cattle to a bank to settle indebtedness. *Reichlin*, 184 Wash. App. at 304. The bank foreclosed upon the chattel mortgage, and the bank obtained its judgment against the debtor. *Id.* When the bank continued to keep the cattle it acquired on the debtor's land, the debtor filed an action for unlawful detainer of the farmland against the bank. *Id.* As defendant to the debtor's new action, the bank affirmatively pleaded as a setoff the judgment it had previously obtained. *Id.* 

The trial court setoff the judgments obtained by the parties in the same civil action. *Id.* At the time the trial court performed the mutual setoff, both parties' judgments were final; neither judgment was pending on appeal, nor subject to any further action by any court. *Id.* Both parties appealed the judgment of the trial court. *Id.* at 306. The debtor cross - appealed that portion of the ruling allowing the setoff. *Id.* 

In upholding the setoff in favor of the bank, the Supreme Court of Washington in *Reichlin* first reasoned,

[j]udgments cannot be offset until they have become final and conclusive and where the pendency of an appeal prevents such finality, it will prevent the set-off, particularly where execution of the judgment has been stayed.

Reichlin, 184 Wash. 314. (emphasis added).

Based upon this reasoning, the Supreme Court held that, "the judgment pleaded as a set-off was properly set off against the verdict, and there was no error in the proceedings of which the cross-appellant can complain." *Id.* at 316.

In April of 2017, Division Three of the Court of Appeals adopted the Supreme Court's reasoning in *Reichlin* in deciding *Seth Burrill Prods.*, *v. Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc.*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 852 \*16. The Court disallowed a claim for setoff against a judgment that was not pled as part of the original action leading to the judgment. *Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc.*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS \*16. In deciding the *Rebel Creek Tackle* matter, the Court of Appels commented once again that the judgment proposed as a setoff must be a, "solemn judgment establishing finality an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In accordance with GR 14.1(a), the undersigned advises that *Seth Burrill Prods.*, v. *Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc.*, 198 Wn. App. 1038 (2017) is an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals.

indebtedness certain in amount. There is nothing left to litigate, and it is beyond the power of a jury or of the court itself..." *Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc.*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS \*16. *Accord, Sherry v. Financial Indemnity Co.*, 160 Wn. 2d 611, 617 - 618 (2007) (trial court may resolve setoff in same action when parties plead as such or agree to setoff before any judgment had).

#### 2. The modern view of setoffs.

The legislature of Oregon has codified the jurisprudence adopted in Washington with respect to judgments proposed as a setoff. *See*, ORS § 52.650. That statute, in pertinent part states:

A judgment proposed as a setoff under ORS 52.640 must be final and no longer subject to appeal.

ORS § 52.650 (emphasis added).

In sum, the currently - controlling Washington legal precedents are in accord with the view taken by the legislature of the sister state of Oregon. The Washington jurisprudence establishes that a judgment that is being appealed is not final, and, as such, cannot be offset against a judgment that is final and not subject to appeal.

#### 3. Finality is the touchstone to proper set-off of judgments

As both appellate courts of Washington have recognized, before a judgment may be used in a set-off calculation it first must be pled as setoff in answering the complaint." Moreover, it must be, "a solemn judgment establishing finally an indebtedness certain in amount. There is nothing left to litigate, and it is beyond the power of a jury or of the court itself ..." *Reichlin*, 184 Wash. App. at 306. When matters are on appeal, finality is not established. *Id*. Accordingly, finality is the touchstone to the proper setoff of a judgment.

When a litigant chooses not to obtain a supersedeas bond and a judgment then becomes enforceable, that judgment is not final because it can still be appealed while being enforced. While that judgment is on appeal, and subject to being reversed or vacated, it cannot be used in a setoff calculation, as it is not final while on appeal. *Reichlin, Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc supra*. Said another way, deciding not to obtain a supersedeas bond does not create the finality necessary to use a judgment in a set-off calculation. The touchstone to the proper set-off of judgments is finality.

#### 4. Equity must follow the law.

The Supreme Court of Washington, relying on a well-respected U. S. Supreme Court precedent, established decades ago that a trial judge employing equitable principles in the context of setoffs must follow the then- existing law and apply that law to the facts of the case before it. *Williams v. Duke*, 125 Wash. 250, 254 (1923) (*quoting*, *Magniac v*, *Thomson*, 56 U. S. 281). That is, equity does not attempt to assail or abrogate, but follows and is subordinate to the law. *Williams*, 125 Wash at 254. And, where the parties' rights are clearly defined, equity has no power to change or unsettle those rights, as *equitas* sequitur legem is strictly applied. *Id. Accord*, *Graf v. Hope*, 254 N. Y. 1 at 9 (1930) (equity works as a supplement to the law and does not supersede the prevailing law).

This Court of Appeals re-affirmed this state's adherence to the equitas sequitur legem maxim when deciding Dolan v. King County, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 1022, \*25. Therein, this Court held again, "equity follows the law and cannot provide a remedy where legislation expressly denies it. Id. Accord, In re Marriage of Newgard, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1680, \*9, n. 3 (equity follows the law and cannot provide a remedy where legislation expressly denies it).

In this matter, equity must follow the established law regarding

set-off of judgments, as articulated in Reichlin and Rebel Creek Tackle,

supra.

**CONCLUSION** 

Accordingly, this Court should accept this matter for review for the

reasons stated in the Legal Arguments portion of this Petition. After

review, this court should vacate the order of the Superior Court dated

January 11, 2018 which set-off Petitioner's final award of \$114, 950

against the award made to Lori Jordan in a separate civil action which was

not then final, but on appeal. This Court should recognize that Lori Jordan

never pled set-off in a civil action and the parties never agreed to such an

arrangement. This court should then enter a judgment in favor of

Appellant for \$114,950, nunc pro tunc to January 11, 2018, plus interest to

date at the statutory rate.