FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/17/2019 10:14 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97200-1

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 77967-2-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----

#### STEPHEN EARL WHITTED,

Petitioner,

v.

#### LORI JONES JORDAN,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

# LORI JORDAN'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID CORBETT PLLC
David J. Corbett
2106 N. Steele Street
Tacoma, Washington 98406
Telephone: (253) 414-5235
david@davidcorbettlaw.com
Attorney for Respondent Lori
Jordan

## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is Lori Jones Jordan ("Ms. Jordan"), who was the respondent / cross-appellant in the Court of Appeals and the defendant in the underlying Superior Court action.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision is the unpublished opinion filed in the matter of *Stephen Earl Whitted v. Lori Jones Jordan*, 77967-2-I, 2019 WL 1785618 (Wash. Ct. App. April 22, 2019).

# III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW BY MR. WHITTED

Petitioner Stephen Whitted ("Mr. Whitted") seeks review of an issue he has framed as follows: "Was it error for the Superior Court of King County to set off a final judgment made in favor of Petitioner, Stephen Whitted, against an award made in favor of Respondent, Lori Jordan, from a separate action that was not then final but on appeal, when Jordan never pled setoff?"<sup>1</sup>

Ms. Jordan denies that Mr. Whitted has accurately stated an issue that arose below (because the judgment in the other action *was* final, and because Ms. Jordan *did* plead set-off), and asks that the Court deny discretionary review for the reasons stated below.

#### IV. MS. JORDAN'S RE-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second Washington state court appeal involving the enforcement of a decree dissolving the parties' marriage entered by a

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Petition for Discretionary Review, at pp. 5-6.

Georgia court more than a decade ago.<sup>2</sup> In the first appeal, the Court of Appeals confirmed the trial court's judgment in favor of Ms. Jordan and against Mr. Whitted for approximately \$165,000 in unpaid child support, and also awarded Ms. Jordan her reasonable attorney's fees on appeal.<sup>3</sup>

In the matter subject to this current appeal, the trial court entered judgment against Ms. Jordan for a principal sum of \$55,000 to enforce a provision of the decree that required Ms. Jordan to transfer certain retirement account funds to Mr. Whitted. CP 76-77. The court allowed Ms. Jordan to offset the amount she owed to Mr. Whitted against the larger amount Mr. Whitted owed to her due to the first judgment. CP 77. Both parties appealed, but the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in all respects on April 22, 2019.<sup>4</sup>

On May 1, 2019, Mr. Whitted filed a one-page "Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court of Washington." By letter dated May 15, 2019, the Supreme Court Deputy Clerk informed the parties that "[t]he Rules of Appellate Procedure . . . do not provide for such a notice procedure to be used to seek review of a Court of Appeals opinion." The Supreme Court Deputy Clerk explicitly pointed the parties to RAP 13.4, and stated that any petition for review was due "not later than May 22, 2019."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Whitted v Jordan, 2019 WL 1785618 at \*1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Jordan v. Whitted, 76168-4-I, 2018 WL 824556 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 12, 2018), at

<sup>\* 5.</sup> See also Whitted v Jordan, 2019 WL 1785618 at \*1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Whitted v Jordan, 2019 WL 1785618.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Letter dated May 15, 2019 from Supreme Court Deputy Clerk Erin Lennon to Mr. Whitted and Ms. Jordan, at p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Id*.

Despite this Court having reminded Mr. Whitted of the May 22, 2019 deadline for the submission of any petition for review, Mr. Whitted chose to wait until May 21, 2019 to mail his Petition for Discretionary Review ("Petition") to the Court.<sup>7</sup> The Court did not receive the Petition for Discretionary Review until May 23, 2019, one day past the 30-day deadline set by RAP 13.4(a).<sup>8</sup>

Mr. Whitted subsequently filed a motion for extension, and Ms. Jordan responded, requesting that Mr. Whitted's motion for extension be denied, and that his petition for review be dismissed as untimely. On June 20, 2019, Supreme Court Deputy Clerk Erin L. Lennon informed the parties by letter that both the motion for extension to file a petition for review and Mr. Whitted's untimely petition would be set for consideration by a Department of the Court. Ms. Jordan was given until July 22, 2019 to serve and file an answer to Mr. Whitted's petition for review.

# V. ARGUMENT WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY MR. WHITTED'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

1. Mr. Whitted's Petition for Discretionary Review is untimely, and the Court should dismiss his Petition for this reason alone.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Motion to Enlarge Time to File Petition for Review, dated June 3, 2019, at p. 2, ¶ 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Letter dated May 28, 2019 from Supreme Court Clerk Susan Carlson to the parties in this matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *See* Mr. Whitted's Motion to Enlarge Time to File Petition for Review, dated June 3, 2019, *and* Ms. Jordan's Response to Petitioner's Motion to Enlarge Time to File Petition for Review, at p.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Letter dated June 20, 2019 from Supreme Court Deputy Clerk Erin L. Lennon to the parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Id.

There is no dispute that Mr. Whitted did not file his Petition for Discretionary Review until one day <u>after</u> the 30-day deadline set by RAP 13.4(a). For the reasons set forth in more detail in her Response to Petitioner's Motion to Enlarge Time to File Petition for Review, Ms. Jordan submits that Mr. Whitted has demonstrated neither "extraordinary circumstances" nor any looming "gross miscarriage of justice," and thus fails to meet the criteria for an extension of time set by RAP 18.8(b). The Court should deny Mr. Whitted's Petition for Discretionary Review for this reason alone.

2. Even if Mr. Whitted's Petition for Discretionary Review were timely, it fails to meet the criteria for discretionary review set by RAP 13.4(b).

As the Court reminded Mr. Whitted on May 15, the "contents . . . of a petition for review should conform to the requirements of RAP 13.4." RAP 13.4(b) states in pertinent part as follows:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.<sup>14</sup>

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Letter dated May 28, 2019 from Supreme Court Clerk Susan Carlson to the parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Letter dated May 15, 2019 from Supreme Court Deputy Clerk Erin L. Lennon to the parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> RAP 13.4(b).

Mr. Whitted's Petition for Discretionary Review never cites RAP 13.4(b). However, read with charity, the Petition can be construed as arguing that RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) are satisfied, as Mr. Whitted alleges that the decision of the Court of Appeals allowing a set-off conflicts with both *Reichlin v. First National Bank*, 184 Wash. 304 (1935), and *Seth Burrill Prods., Inc. v. Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc.*, 198 Wn. App. 1038, 2017 WL 1334440 (unpublished). 15

Unfortunately for Mr. Whitted, the Court of Appeals carefully considered, and properly rejected, precisely these arguments. <sup>16</sup> The Court of Appeals distinguished both *Reichlin* and *Seth Burrill* in the process of pointing out that "[n]o persuasive authority supports [Mr.] Whitted's position that a pending appeal precludes an offset," particularly when—as here—no effort was made to stay enforcement of the offsetting judgment on appeal. <sup>17</sup>

Much of Mr. Whitted's argument in his Petition for Discretionary Review effectively reduces to doubling-down on a misrepresentation of the holding in *Reichlin*. <sup>18</sup> As the Court of Appeals explained in the decision proposed for review, *Reichlin* does <u>not</u> hold that the pendency of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See, e.g., Petition for Discretionary Review, at p. and pp. 11-14. <sup>16</sup> See Whitted v. Jordan, 2019 WL 1785618, at \*2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Id.* at \*2. *See also* RAP 8.1(b) (expressly stating that "[a] trial court decision may be enforced pending appeal or review unless stayed pursuant to the provisions of this rule"). <sup>18</sup> *See*, *e.g.*, Petition for Discretionary Review at p. 15 (improperly citing to *Reichlin* in support of the proposition that "[w]hen matters are on appeal, finality is not established").

an appeal prevents finality.<sup>19</sup> Mr. Whitted's argument to the contrary relies on dicta which he clearly takes out of context.<sup>20</sup>

Similarly, nothing in the unpublished case of *Seth Burrill Prods.*, *Inc. v. Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc.* supports Mr. Whitted's claim that the mere pendency of an appeal prevents the set-off a judgment.<sup>21</sup> In *Seth Burrill*, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's rejection of mere *claims* for set-offs which had neither been properly pleaded below nor reduced to judgment.<sup>22</sup> Here, contrary to Mr. Whitted's demonstrably false assertion, Ms. Jordan <u>did</u> plead set-off in her first submission to the trial court in response to Mr. Whitted's writ of garnishment. CP 103, 109.<sup>23</sup> And the set-off she requested was a claim that had already been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Whitted v. Jordan, 2019 WL 1785618, at \*2 (citing to *Reichlin*, 184 Wash. at 314). *Compare* Petition for Discretionary Review, at p. 13.

<sup>20</sup> Id. As Mr. Whitted surely understands, the statement from the treatise quoted by Reichlin does not say "because the pendency of an appeal prevents . . . finality," but rather says "where the pendency of an appeal prevents . . . finality," and goes on to note the importance of whether execution of the judgment on appeal has been stayed. Reichlin, 184 Wash. at 314 (quoting from 2 Freeman on Judgments (5th Ed.) § 1143, p. 2383) (emphasis added). Not least because of RAP 8.1(b)'s statement that "[a] trial court decision may be enforced pending appeal or review unless stayed pursuant to the provisions of this rule," Washington is not a state where the pendency of an appeal suffices to prevent finality. Mr. Whitted's continued citation to an Oregon statute that has no equivalent in Washington provides more proof of this point. See Petition for Discretionary Review, at p. 14. Cf. Whitted v. Jordan, 2019 WL 1785618, at \*2, note 3.

21 See Petition for Discretionary Review, at pp. 13-14, citing to Seth Burrill Prods., Inc. v. Petal Creak Tarkla, Inc. 108 Wp. App. 1038, 2017 WI. 1324440.

Rebel Creek Tackle, Inc., 198 Wn. App. 1038, 2017 WL 1334440.

<sup>22</sup> See Seth Burrill Prods., 2017 WL 1334440 at \*6 (noting that "Rebel does not explain how asserting a *new claim* for relief in the case below, three years after final judgment,

was legally possible") (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Ms. Jordan had also sought to set-off the child support and retirement account amounts in the action that she brought in King County Superior Court Case No. 16–3–03678–7. *See* CP 109, lines 10-12. *See also Jordan v. Whitted*, 2018 WL 824556, at \*1 (observing that the trial court in that action had "declined to offset the \$164,868.85 arrearage by Lori's unpaid retirement account obligations, finding that the retirement transfer was not properly before it").

reduced to judgment. CP 76 at  $\P$  3.<sup>24</sup> Thus, even if *Seth Burrill* were a published decision—and the fact that it is not renders it incapable of satisfying RAP 13.4(b)(2)—it would not support a grant of discretionary review, because it is not in conflict with the decision proposed for review.

Finally, even Mr. Whitted does not dispute that the judgment entered by the trial court in Ms. Jordan's favor in King County Superior Court Case No. 16–3–03678–7, and affirmed by the Court of Appeals in *Jordan v. Whitted*, 76168-4-I, 2018 WL 824556 (Feb. 12, 2018), is currently final and enforceable. Mr. Whitted did not seek discretionary review by this Court of that decision, and the time for doing so is long past.<sup>25</sup> Accordingly, no conceivable equitable purpose would be served by disallowing the set-off permitted by the trial court in King County Superior Court Case No. 16-2-18167-8, and affirmed by the Court of Appeals in the decision proposed for review, *Whitted v. Jordan*, 77967-2-I, 2019 WL 1785618 (Apr. 22, 2019). Granting review here, and granting Mr. Whitted the relief he seeks, would only lead to a needless additional legal expense, since Ms. Jordan would be clearly entitled to set-off the two indisputably final judgments if she brought a new action for this relief.<sup>26</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See also CP 68 (Mr. Whitted acknowledging on November 10, 2017 that judgment had already been entered against him in the child support case).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See RAP 13.4(a) (stating that petition for review must be filed within 30 days after the decision is filed"). This Court may take judicial notice of its own records to establish that Mr. Whitted did not seek review of *Jordan v. Whitted*, 76168-4-I, 2018 WL 824556 (Feb. 12, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See, e.g., Reichlin, 184 Wash. at 313 (holding that "a judgment, especially a judgment entered by the same court, when pleaded as a set-off must as a matter of law be credited upon any recovery which the judgment debtor, as plaintiff, may establish against the judgment creditor as defendant," and noting that "[n]o other course would be equitable").

This point relates back to and confirms Mr. Whitted's inability to meet the criteria for an extension of time to file his untimely Petition for Discretionary Review, since maintaining the set-off awarded below would in no way be a "gross miscarriage of justice."<sup>27</sup>

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set-forth above and in Ms. Jordan's Response to Petitioner's Motion to Enlarge Time to File Petition for Review, the Court should dismiss Mr. Whitted's Petition for Discretionary Review as untimely. In the alternative, the Court should deny the Petition for Discretionary Review because it fails to satisfy any of the criteria set by RAP 13.4(b).